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Then let us not leave the meaning of education ambiguous or ill-
defined. At present, when we speak in terms of praise or blame about
the bringing-up of each person, we call one man educated and another
uneducated, although the uneducated man may be sometimes very well
educated for the calling of a retail trader, or of a captain of a ship, and
the like. For we are not speaking of an education in this narrower
sense, but of that other education in virtue from youth upwards, which
makes a man eagerly pursue the ideal perfection of citizenship, and
teaches him how rightly to rule and how to obey. This is the only edu-
cation which, upon our view, deserves the name; that other sort of
training, which aims at the acquisition of wealth or bodily strength, or
mere cleverness, apart from intelligence and justice, is mean and illib-
eral, and is not worthy to be called education at all. But let us not
quarrel with one another about a word, provided that the proposition
which has been granted hold good, to-wit: That those who are rightly
educated generally become good men. Neither must we cast a slight
upon education, which is the first and fairest thing that the best of men
can ever have, and which, though liable to take a wrong direction, is
capable of reformation. And this work of reformation is the great

business of every man while he lives.— Plato, Laws, iv. 173.
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UNIVERSITY OF ILLINOIS.

The University of Illinois has its seat in Champaign county, in the
eastern central part of the state, between the twin cities of Champaign
and Urbana, within the corporate limits of thelatter. It is one hundred
and twenty-eight miles southward from Chicago, at the junction of the
Illinois Central, the Cleveland, Cincinnati, Chicago and St. Louis, and
the Wabash railways. The situation is a beautiful one, and the ‘‘art
that doth mend nature” has added rare charms to the grounds and sur-
roundings. The country around is one of the richest and most prosper-
ous agricultural regions of the world, and the local municipalities, with
a combined population of 11,000, are noted for public spirit and high
moral tone.

HISTORY.

In 1862 the national government donated to each state in the Union
public land scrip apportioned in quantity equal to 30,000 acres for each
senator and representativein congress, ‘‘for the endowment, support and
maintenance of at least one college, whose leading object shall be, with-
out excluding other scientific and classical studies, and including mili-
tary tactics, to teach such branches of learning as are related to agri-
culture and the mechanic arts, * * % ¥ ¥ iporder to pro-
mote the liberal and practical education of the industrial classes in the
several pursuits and professions of life.”

Under this act Illinois received scrip for 480,000 acres of land sub-
ject to location in any surveyed but unoccupied part of the public do-
main, and 25,000 acres were thus located in Nebraska and Minnesota,
while the remainder of the scrip was sold for what could be obtained.
Of the land, about 14,000 acres have been sold at from $10.00 to $15.00
an acre. In compensation for waiting something more than a quarter
of a century, the land thus secured has added and willadd to the endow-
ment fund nearly as much as was obtained for the vastly greater propor-
tion of the scrip originally sold. The entire principal sum received
from the sale of scrip and of land is held inviolate as endowment, the
income only being available for current expenditures.
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To secure the location of the University several counties entered
into sharp competition by proposing to donate to its use named sums of
money, or its equivalent. Champaign county offered a large brick
building, erected for a seminary and nearly completed, about 1,000 acres
of land for a campusand adjoining farms, and $100.000 in county bonds.
To this the Illinois Central railroad added $50,000 in freight.

The state legislature has from time to time appropriated various
sums for permanent improvements, as well as for maintenance. The
present value of the entire property and assets is estimated at $1,375,000.

The institution was incorporated under the name of the Illinois
Industrial University the last day of February, 1867, and placed under
the control of a board of trustees constituted of the governor, the super-
intendent of public instruction, and the president of the state board of
agricultuare, as ex-officio members, and twenty-eight citizens appointed by
the governor. The chief executive officer, usually called president, was
styled Regent, and he was made, ex-officio, a member of the board and
presiding officer both of the board of trustees and of the faculty.

In 1873 the board of trustees was reorganized by the reduction of
the number of members by appointment to nine and ex-officio to two, the
governor and the president of the state board of agriculture. In 1887 a
law was passed making membership elective at a general state election
and restoring the superintendent of public instruction as an ex-officio
member. There are, therefore, now three cx-officio members and nine
by public suffrage. Since 1873 the president of the board has been
chosen by the members thereof from among their own number, for a
term of one year.

In consideration of the offer of Champaign county the institution
was located, May 8, 1867, in the suburbs of Urbana, adjoining those of
Champaign. For greater convenience most use his been made of the
postoffice of the latter place. The University was open to students
March 2, 1868, at which time there were present, beside the Regent,
three professors, and about fifty students, mostly from the vicinity. Dur-
ing the first term another instructor was added, and there was a total
enrollment of 77 students, all young men.

During the first term classes were instructed in algebra, geometry,
natural philosophy, history, rhetoric, and Latin. Along with this, work
on the farm and gardens or around the buildings was compulsory for all
students. Butin March of the next year compulsory labor was discon-
tinued, save when it was made to serve as a part of class instruction. A
chemical laboratory was fitted up during the autumn of 1868, and stu-
dents then began practical work in the department. Botanical laboratory
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work was commenced the following year. In January, 1870, a tem-
porary mechanical shop was fitted up with tools and machinery, and in
this little wooden building, originally constructed for a carpenter shop,
was begun the firsz shop-instruction in American universities. During the
summer of 1871, a large brick structure, the present Machinery Hall,
was erected and equipped for students' shop work in both wood and
iron, and in 1876 a diploma of merit was awarded for the exhibition in
this line made at the Centennial Exposition.

By vote, March 9, 1870, the trustees admitted women as students;
and during the year 1870-71, twenty-four availed themselves of the privi-
lege. Since that time they have constituted about one-sixth to one-fifth
of the total number of students; In 1875 a course in domestic science
and art was organized. This was maintained five years, when, upon the
withdrawal of the professor in charge, it was abandoned.

By the original state law certificates showing the studies pursued
and the attainments in each were substituted for the usual diplomas and
degrees. The certificates not proving satisfactory to the holders, the
alumni petitioned the legislature in 1877 to give the University authority
to confer degrees, and such authority was granted.

Again, upon motion of members of the alumni, seconded by trustees
and faculiy, the legislature was asked in 1885 to change a former action
by that body. The word industrial, as used in connection with public
institutions, had become associated with those of a penal or reformatory
kind, and, in consequence, many ludicrous and sometimes embarrassing
mistakes were made as to the character and purpose of the University.
Instead of the splendid conception of high, collegiate education, prepara-
tory toand in aid of the great industries of the age, people were too
often led to suppose the state had provided a place for destitute children
or for young culprits. From the beginning the institution had been
recognized as the state University, and all the discussion leading to its
establishment was based upon this idea. No change was now sought in
its character or in its relations, but a name better expressive to the pub-
lic mind of that character and relation was desired. The industrial
University became the University of Illinois.

During the same session of the legislature a bill was passed trans-
ferring the State Laboratory of Natural History from the Illinois State
Normal University to the University of Illinois. This laboratory was
created by law for the purpose of making a natural history survey of the
state, with the publication of the results inseries of bulletinsand reports,
and for the allied purpose of furnishing specimensillustrative of the flora
and;fauna of the state to the public schools, and to the state museum,
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For these purposes direct appropriations are made by the legislature
from session to session. A large amount of material has been collected
and extended publications have been made in both the forms above men-
tioned.

By an act approved March 2, 1887, the national government appro-
priated $15,000 per annum to each state for the purpose of establishing
and maintaining, in connection with the colleges founded upon the con-
gressional act of 1862, an agricultural experiment station, '*to aid in ac-
quiring and diffusing among the people of the United States useful and
practical information on subjects connected with agriculture, and to pro-
mote scientific investigation and experiment respecting the principles and
applications of agricultural science.” Under this provision the station
for Illinois was placed under the direction of the trustees of the Univer-
sity and its grounds were located on the University farm. At least one
bulletin of results is published every three months, and they are for
gratuitous distribution. Editions of 14,000 copies are now issued.

For the more complete endowment of the state institutions founded
upon the act of 1862, the congress of the United States made further ap-
propriations by a supplementary law passed in 18go. Under this enact-
ment each such college or university received the first year $15,000, the
second $16,000, and likewise thereafter $1,000 per annum additional to
the amount of the preceding year. The annual increase is to continue
until the amount reaches $25,000, which sum is then to be paid yearly
thereafter, Putting the congressional aids together there is made an
exceedingly encouraging example for the state authorities to imitate.
It cannot be said that the Illinois legislature has in the past contributed
liberally to the University, but a disposition to do so has been much
more manifest in recent sessions of that body. Besides $70,000 for a
science building, the 37th General Assembly (1891) appropriated for the
use of the University for two years the sum of $65,044.23, and the 38th
(1893) passed appropriations for an engineers’ building, $160,000, and
for other purposes for two years $135,700. To date the total appropria-
tions by the state to the University for all purposes whatsoever amount
to $879,900.

It has been mentioned that 77 students attended the first term in
1868. The total enrollments for the succeeding years to the present are
as follows: 128, 180, 274, 381, 400, 405, 368, 370, 388, 387, 399, 414, 382,
352, 382, 330, 332, 362, 343, 377, 417, 469, 519, 583, 714, 743.

It will be noted that for the last ten years each year, with a single
exception, shows a gain over that preceding. The year's gain for
1892-93 was much the greatest, reaching 21 per cent over the attendance
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for 1892 and nearly 40 per cent over that for 1891. Financial difficul-
ties materially affected the enrollment this year (1893-94). The follow-
ing table gives details of attendancesince 1881-82:

ATTENDANCE OF STUDENTS IN THE SEVERAL DEPARTMENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY, FOR
THE YEARS 1881-82 TO 1893-94.
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1883-84.| 24| 45i... 51 2| 21)..| 26[..| 17 6] 94 8| 43| 261| 69! 330
1884-85.] 21| 56|. 58 1| z6[..| 23|..| 20| 11| 102 4| 34| 292| 70| 362
1885-86.| 25| 53]....| 43{....[ 31 24f..| 27[..| 18| 8| 102| 7| 19| 269 63| 332
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1888-89 16| 74|....{ 62|....] 6| 59|..| 20|..| 54| 9 85| 14| 19 346| 71| 417
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*Not separately classified until 18go-g1.
TNot separately classified until 18g2.
iNot separately classified until 1893.
This shows that the marked increase has been in certain of the
courses of engineering. The number of students pursuing architectural
studies is greater than at any other collegiate institution in this country.

BUILDINGS AND GROUNDS.

The land occupied by the University and its several departments
embraces about 210 acres, including experimental farm, orchards, forest
plantation, arboretum, ornamental grounds, and military parade
grounds.

University Hall, designed wholly for public uses, cccupies three
sides of a quadrangle, measuring 214 feet in front and 122 feet upon the
wings. The library wing contains in spacious halls the museum of
natural history, the library, the art gallery, and the museum of in-
dustrialart. The chapel wing contains the chapel, the physical laboratory
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and lecture room, and rooms occupied by the department of architecture,
and of art and design. In the main front are convenient class rooms,
and on the upper floor elegant halls for literary societies.

The Chemical Laboratory is a building 75 by 120 feet, and two stories
high, besides well-lighted basement and mansard stories. It contains
the general laboratories for students, instructors’ laboratories, lecture
rooms, store rooms, scale rooms, and various apartments for special pur-
poses.

Machinery Hall is of brick, two stories high, 126 feet in length, and
88 feet in width. It contains the machine shop and mechanical wood
shop on the second floor, together with tool rooms, pattern room and
stock room. On the first floor is found the forge shop, foundry, wash
room; architectural shops for carpentry and cabinet work, furnished
with wood working machinery, stock rooms, as well as the Laboratory of
Applied Mechanics and Hydraulics.

Natural History Hall is a handsome building, 134 by 94 feet, with
basement, two main stories, and an attic. It is occupied by the depart-
ments of botany, zodlogy, physiology, mineralogy, and geology, for each
of which there are laboratories, lecture rooms, and offices.

Military Hall, 100 by 150 feet in onegrand hall, gives ample space for
company and battalion maneuvers and for large audiences upon special
occasions. It is also used as a gymnasium, for which there are dress-
ing rooms with lockers. A bath room is provided.

Engineering Hall —The new engineering building in process of erec-
tion will, it is hoped, be ready for occupancy at the opening of the fall
term. The last legislature made an appropriation of $160,000 for this
building, and it promises to be the handsomest structure on the campus.
The trustees asked for competitive plans from the architectural gradu-
ates of this University, and awarded the first prize to George W. Bul-
lard, Tacoma, Wash., of the class of 1882, who was made architect of the
building.

The new building stands on the north side of Green street, midway
between the north and south groups of buildings, facing the latter. It
has a frontage of 200 feet, a depth on the wings of 76 feet and 138 feet
in the center. The middle wing is 72 feet wide. The first story is of
drab sandstone in twelve inch courses, having a tooth-chiseled finish
and deeply chamfered horizontal joints. The three upper stories are
of buff pressed brick with terra cotta trimmings to match. The interior
is slow burning mill construction. The ceiling is paneled Washington
fir, and the remainder of the interior flnish is oak with bronze
trimmings.
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The first story of the west and central wings contains the laboratories
of the department of electrical engineering, while the east wing is de-
voted to masonry, laboratories and instrument rooms of the department
of civil engineering. The central wing of the second story contains
the lecture room and the preparation rooms of the department of phys-
ics, and the remainder of the floor is used by the departments of civil
and municipal engineering, for recitation and drawing rooms, cabinets
and studies. The middle wing of the third story contains the labora-
tories of the department of physics, and the side wings the drawing
rooms, lecture rooms, cabinets, and studies of the mechanical depart-
ment. The center portion contains the library, the office, and the
faculty parlor. The fourth story is devoted entirely to the department
of architecture, and contains drawing and lecture rooms, cabinets, photo
studio, and blue print laboratory.

There are, in addition to these buildings, a veterinary hall, a
small astronomical observatory, three dwellings, two large barns, and a
green house.

MUSEUMS AND COLLECTIONS.

The museum of zodlogy and geology occupies a hall 61 by 79 feet,
with a gallery on three sides, and is completely furnished with wall,
table, and alcove cases. It contains interesting and important col-
lections, equaled at few, if any, of the colleges of the west. They
have been specially selected and prepared to illustrate the courses of
study in the school of natural history, and to present a synoptical view
of the zoblogy of the state.

Zoology.—The mounted mammals comprise an unusually large and
instructive collection of the ruminants of our country, including male
and female moose, elk, bison, deer, antelope, etc., and also several
quadrumana, large carnivora and fur-bearing animals, numerous rodents,
good representative marsupials, cetaceans, edentates, and monotremes.
Fifty species of this class are represented by eighty specimens.

The collection of mounted birds (about five hundred and fifty speci-
mens of three hundred species) includes representatives of all the orders
and families of North America, together with a number of characteristic
tropical forms. Many of these specimens are excellent examples of
artistic taxidermy. A series of several hundred unmounted skins is
available for the practical study of species.

The set of skeletons contains examples of all the orders of mammals
and birds except the Proboscidea, together with typical representatives
of the principle groups of reptiles, amphibians, and fishes.
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The cold-blooded vertebrates are also represented by a very useful
collection of alcoholic specimens, plaster casts, and mounted skins of the
larger species, both terrestrial and marine.

Embryology is illustrated by a set of Ziegler wax models, and sev-
eral series of slides, sections, and other preparations.

Conchology is illustrated by several thousand shells belonging to
seventeen hundred species; together with alcoholic specimens of all
classes and orders. The collection of Illinois shells is fair, butincomplete.

The entomological cabinet contains about three thousand species
(principally American), named, labeled, and systematically arranged.

The lower invertebrates are represented by several hundred dried
specimens and alcoholics, and by a large series of the famous Blaschka
glass models.

Botany.—The herbarium contains nearly all the species of flowering
plants indigenous to Hlinois, including a complete set of grasses and
sedges. The flora of North America is fairly well represented, and a
considerable collection of foreign species has been made. A collection
of fungi includes a very full set of those most injurious to other plants,
causing rusts, smuts, moulds, etc. A collection of wood specimens from
two hundred species of North American trees well illustrates the varie-
ties of native wood.

Plaster casts represent fruits of many of the leading varieties, as
well as interesting specimens of morphology, showing peculiarities of
growth, effects of cross-fertilization, etc.

Geology.—The geological collection comprises many of the largest
and most remarkable fossils hitherto discovered in the various geological
formations, illustrating the general progress of life in the mollusks,
fishes, reptiles, and mammals, from the oldest paleozoic time to the
present. A fine set of fossils from Germany, and collections suitably
arranged for practical study, from this and other states, illustrate the
different formations. There is a good collection of foot-prints from the
Connecticut river sandstones.

Lithology.—This collection